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independent longevity or existed in any way apart

from the alleged pattern of racketeering activity.

The complaints at least vaguely allege the existence
of a “common purpose.” However, there are no facts
alleged establishing that there was any longevity in
the association between Blue Cross and the MANTIS
task force. Based on the faci?s lpresented in the

various complaints, nothing more has been described

beyond a single tran;s:)a;é‘t-;i;r‘l;iA‘i.rrlteraction betviréen
singular employees of tw independent entities for
the purpose of undertaking a single investigation of
Dr. Pompy’ s medical practice. Moiedvér,h no facts at
all v stated in the pleadings demonstrating that
idre wat any tadependent axtavanss of the
association apart from ‘fhe' discrete acts of
Selcltstonting activity® dessibed in the Gomplatnt.
For:i!'n"stan'éé, there are no facts a]leged 'froih which

s ‘w.f_ i .Li ar :. P Il“ ?.‘:. ‘z‘“ b hts ,\'iu" . & =‘.3:,'..‘ f‘
one could draw an inference that the association-in-
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fact enterprise could “exist apart from the pattern of
wrongdoing.” VanDenBroeck, 210 F.3d at 699. Nor
are there allegations suggesting “a certain amount of
organizational structure which eliminates simple
conspiracies from the Act’s reach.” Ibid. The
complaint here plausibly describes nothing more
than a‘ conspiracy to commit the several acts of
Gt ndrrated ia the ploadings, and aotlis has
been alleged to demonstrate that Blue Cross,
MANTIS, ’or‘ Moore and Howell formed ‘a'ny“ '
as's'o’ciation that .“functione‘d' }A'as a jcontiinuous unit” for
purposes other than the mcldental consplracy alleged

in this case, or that there was an 1ndependent

organizational structure to the supposed

b))

T [ P i \|[ 2 & : g i\
“enterprise.” ‘ '

At oral argument plalntlﬁ's counsel stated that he
could a]lege that MANTIS and Blue Cross

1nvest1gated another phys1c1an That allegatlon

el DA .:;?; R Ti vt il LAt A4~ IR] 1o i kb EL‘ i et
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would take the activity beyond this single alleged
conspiracy. But there was no suggestion that either
Blue Cross or MANTIS used any illegal means to
conduct that investigation, or that there was
anything untoward about it. Even accepting counsel
at his word, none of the allegations — made,
proposed, or promised — are sufficient to establish
an Asbociatian i dact éntenpis ades RICO.™

The plamtlffs a]lege that MANTIS is 1tse].f an
enterprlse But there are no allegatmns, other than

r i,

conclusory allegatlons, that 1t 1tself engaged ina

SSTRIAN &

pattern of racketeermg act1v1ty or that 1t commltted

other unlawful acts beyond the 1nvest1gat10n of the

h“. g'xl.ul

plamt].ffs

The second amended and proposed third amended
complaints do not allege facts su.fﬁment to establish

this element of a RICO claim.
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2. Racketeering Activity

The plaintiffs contend that defendants Blue Cross
and Moore engaged in “racketeering activity” in
several forms, all of which are related to the
investigation of Dr. Pompy’s medical practice. First,
the plaintiffs allege that the defendants committed
‘w1re fraud” and “maﬂ fraud” by transmitting the
search warrants that Moore obtained to financial
institutions, which pror:eeded in accbrdariéé w1th :‘
those wattants tb impair the plaintifls’ assets. “Mail
and wire fraud qaa]ifyl‘la.s vprédiicaté"adts under 18
U.S.C. § 1961 Coltier, 818 F. App'x at 511n.1
(citing 18 U.8.C. 1961(1), enumerating 18 U.S.C. §
1341 (mail fraud) and 18 U.S.C. § 1343 (wire fraud)
as racketeering activitj). The cr1meof wire ‘frau'd
consists of three elements: “(1) th'a't:tha defendant
devised or wﬂlfully partlc:lpated in a scheme to o

defraud; (2) that he ted or caused to be used an’

b TARELL TCnitar AT
;
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interstate wire communication in furtherance of the
scheme; and (3) that he intended to deprive a victim
of money or property.” United States v. Cunningham,
679 F.3d 355, 370 (6th Cir. 2012) (cleaned up). “The
crime of mail fraud has two elements: a scheme or
artifice to defraud and a mailing for the purpose of
e;:ecuting tl1e scheme.” Bender v. Southland Corp.,
749 F.2d 1205, 1215-16 (6¢h Cir. 1984) (01t1ng Pereira

V. UmtedStates, 347Us 1, 8(1954))

When pleadmg mall and w1re fraud as underlymg

o g :.r“. A E

elements in the RICO context the plamtlff must

allege facts W1th parncularlty ooncermng the alleged
L i | l 2
m1srepresentat1ons Bender 749 F 2d at 1216

(“Moreover, [Federal Rule of C1v11 Procedure] 9(b)

i -LJ g R bi*

requires that fraud be pleaded w1th partlcula.nty 'l‘o
satisfy [Rule] 9(b) a pla1nt1ff must at minimum -

allege the t1me place and contents of the

At L LK - e B N
misrepresentatmn(s).”).
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The plaintiffs’ problem with this element is that,
according to the pleaded facts, there were no
“misrepresentations” involved in the specific
communications described, which were confined to
transmissions of the approved search warrants to the
plaintiffs’ financial institutions. That is because it is
undisputedz that the search warrants in fact were
issued by 4 state court magistrate, and there is no
allegatidh that the deféﬂdaﬁté concocted documents
purporting to be search warrants that were not in
fact duly anhdﬁiéd by a iﬁagia“tfaté. The allegatidns
in the pleadings instead focus on the defendants’
precedlng allég':e&’:thfsrépfgaé'ﬁfafidné made in thg -
ééa'rch warrant afﬁdavita;; whichjiﬁv:véi'é' submitted to
the inagistrate to obtain the warrants. But those
allégai;ﬁioﬁs; sound in malicious proéééﬁi:ibﬂ, not “wire

fraud” or “mail fraud,” and malicious prosecution is

TR s e g
et b AN My L
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not enumerated as an act of “racketeering activity”

under RICO.

As one district court observed, after a survey of the
decisions on point, “the overwhelming weight of
authority bars a civil RICO claim based on the use of
the mail or wire to conduct allegedly fraudulent
11t1gat10n act1v1t1es as predlcate racketeermg

acts.” Can'oll V. U S Eqthes C’orp ., NO. 18—667 |
2019 WL 4643786 at *12 (N.D.N.Y. Sept. 24, 2019).
Nuhiero'ilie other federal eoiil‘ts}:‘Si'rﬁi;léﬂ‘y;Ha\"?e held
that mahclousprosecutlonan:i ether‘foﬁn‘s)Of i
litigation abuse do n.et:cbnhstitute valid ipi'edicate acts
fer RIC%)consplracy' Eg,JRaneyV AHSiéife!'Iﬁs. Co.,
370 F.3d 1086, 1088 (Lith Cir. 2004) (“In United
States v. Pendergraft. 207 F.3d 1198 (11th Cir.
2002), tfle déféﬁ&axits a]legedly threetened‘tb sue a

county government by falsely cla1m1ng that the h

County Chau‘man had threatened v101ence agamst
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their abortion clinic. We held that neither the threat
to litigate nor the fabrication of evidence behind the
lawsuit made the action ‘wrongful’ within the
meaning of 18 U.S.C. § 1951 and therefore could not
be a predicate act under RICO.”); Verschleiser v.
Fbydman No 22-7909, 2023 WL 5835031, at *13

(S D. NHY Sept. 7, 2023) (“[Tlo the extent the plaintiff
makes sfjeéiﬁc allégations of ']iti'gation abuse that d
relate to the alleged RICO schome against him, those
allegations are insufficient to supportthé predicate
acts at 1ssue”) (collectmgcases), Daddona v. G&ddfb,
156 F. Supp. 2d 153, 162 (D. Conn. 2000) (“These
Qll‘égatidné at best amount to a vague abuse of
ﬁfoéegs or ma11c1ous proslecutlon claim. 'Co;uts ‘hthé .
found that a]legatiOns of malicious prose;cutioh or
abuse of ijrocesé do not, oﬂ thelr own, sguﬂ'lcéﬁs &
predicate acts for a RICO violation”) (Gollecting

cases).
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Finally, for reasons discussed further below, there
was nothing “fraudulent” about the procurement of
the search warrants in the first instance, because the
warrant affidavit attached to the second amended
complaint discloses ample information establishing
probable cause to search the plaintiffs’ home and
financial accounts for evidence of illegal drug

distribution,

Flnally, in hlS thll'd amended compla.mt the plamtlffe
propose to expand the RICO counts to a]lege further
that Howell engaged in “1dent1ty theft” contrary to
the Federal Ident1ty Theft Act 18 U S C § 1028
v101at10ns of whlch also are an enumerated |
racketeenng act1v1ty under 18 U S.C. § 1961 The

elements of identity theft are made out when a

o
|

person “(1) knowingly transfers, possesses, or uses,

(2) without lawful authorlty, (3) a meansof

1dent1ﬁcat1on of another } person » United States v.
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Jones, 817 F. App’x 138, 140 (6th Cir. 2020) (cleaned
up). It is acknowledged in this case — and explicitly
alleged in the pleadings — that Howell’s
presentation of the fabricated documents was done at
the behest of Moore and in connection with the
qriminal investigation undertaken by the MANTIS
£ask f(v)rcé,/vjvhich allegedly is a law enforcement
agency under the difet:tioﬁ of the Michigah State
Police. The pleadings therefore negate any
conclusmnthat Howell’s use of the iﬁéﬁtiﬁcation was
done “without lawhul authoifly " and the plaintiffe’
proposed arﬁéﬂdment still fails to describe aﬁya valid

‘ TR

predicate acts of racketeering. =

The second amended and proposed third amended

complaints do not contain factual allegations that
b Weomdmanioy ok nr ey SO0 R

make out an alleged violation of, or conspiracy to

violate, the RICO Act.

B. Fourth Amendment Claim
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The plaintiffs allege that defendants Blue Cross and
Moore conspired to violate their constitutional rights
under the Fourth Amendment by agreeing to
fabricate probable cause for search warrants that,
once issued by a magistrate, resulted in the seizure
of assets belonging to Dr. Pompy and his medical

practlce The plaintiffs invoke 42 U.S.C. § 1983. To

r ‘l
state a cla1m under that statute a plamtlff' must

5 v

allege a violation of a right sesared by the

Constitution or laws of the United States by a person

actmg under color of state law West v. Atkms 487

U.S. 42 48 (1988) SUN R

The searches about wh1ch the plalntlffs complam

i,]

were conducted w1th a warrant Current law ‘offers a

‘complete defense’ aga.inst [| claims [of an
pon T T N LA ! : iii;_ NIRRT " ““:*.:,J 5l47

unreasonable search] when officers relied ona

c.\

maglstrate ]udge 5 warrant " but “thlS defense has

| B .. . A"l o | ¢ :I

two except1ons ” Novak V. C’Jty af' Parma, Oluo, 33
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F.4th 296, 305-06 (6th Cir. 2022) (citing Sykes v.
Anderson, 625 F.3d 294, 305 (6th Cir.

2010); Tlapanco v. Elges, 969 F.3d 638, 649 (6th Cir.
2020)). “The first covers cases when an officer
provides false information to obtain a warrant. To
[av01d thlS exceptlon] [the plaintiff]l must show that
(1) the oﬂicers knowingly or recklessly made false
statements or s.iéniﬁcaht omissions; and (2) those

. Ty - SN S S L I N
B IR L A N = . L VB LT
‘statements or omissions were material, or necessary,
.F'[ ‘ i f‘:" Y L 'H, ' 'fl

f’o" the ﬁhding of prdhable o

second exceptmn .. applies if ‘the Watrant 14s0 "
liclkinig 1 ihdicia'of Frobable oaise, Hiat official "
belief in the existence f "pi‘oh"ahie R
unreasonable.” Jd. at 306 (quoting Yancey v. Carroll

County, 876 7.9d 12331243 {6th Cir. 1989)).

1 '-‘-. \ ] b
i U Vi "I'

The plalntlﬁ's spec1ﬁca]1y 1dent1fy only two d.lscrete

statements in the warrant afﬁdav1t that they says

Fatu
AT
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were misleading. First, the plaintiffs say that
statements indicating that Dr. Pompy’s prescribing
volume was unreasonably high were misleading
because the comparators used for the volume
analysis all were anesthesiologists, not doctors
practicing in clinical pain management. Second, the
plaintiffs say that statements that Dr. Pompy
inflated b]lhng codes for certa1n patlent v1s1ts were
misleading becatise applicabls Medicare policy
'stateinentsdo not tie b‘llhng ‘ééd’éé :inﬂexiblj? to”
“minutes of face time” spent during a visit, but
instead allow some discretion for billing cods
detertn;illation!: by th:e physician based on other -

i ’ 5 i , e h s
. N MO LT b B A O T M X F ' L
" Y I i EESSIS » PRt L ERIER LT ﬁ“ : i

factors.
Lo = ) %2 ey

The search warrant a.fﬁdavit was attached as an

‘:' ‘
,,.I;I,rr - I

exhlblt to the second amended complalnt and it

7 L | AR 1Y O & G e

spans 27 pages replete w1th 1ncr1mmat1.ng detaﬂs

uncovered durmg the defendante’ mvestlgatlon
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Search Warrant Aff., ECF No. 146-2, PagelD).2360-
87. Among other things, the affidavit documents the

following.

First, defendant Moore attested that he had learned
from records supplied by Blue Cross and records
supplied by state and federal regulatory authorities
that the plaintiff was a licensed medical doctor and
the pnnc1pal of pla1nt1£f Intervent1onal Pain
Management Assoc1ates, and that various 1dent1ﬁed
bank accounts were associated with the practice.
Second, recordls indicated that the plaintiffs billed
Blue Cross and othe¥ inkuiress for ceftain'xnedi'cal
services purportedly furnished to pa1n management
pat1ents, and that Dr Pompy also 1ssued
presoﬁptions fOr controlled substances including

powerful narcotics.
ThJ.rd the affidavit recounted narratwes of ten v1s1ts
l PR 5l,t '.; |,‘ .;L L,

that Blue Cross employee J ames Howell had at Dr

‘7‘ . ‘
4 o LR P o
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where mostly family doctors or primary care
physicians would send their hardest cases to him. On
top of seeing - 3 Case 2:19-cv-10334-DML-APP ECF
No. 188-2, PagelD.3189 Filed 07/31/24 Page 5 of 11
patients daily and often late into the evening in his
hospital office, Dr. Pompy worked two mornings each
week at IPMA 's off-campus interventional center
and one Sé.turaay each month at a surgical
outpétient center owned by other doctors. 16. Over
inany ye'ars of servmg asa paln \rﬁ&ﬂﬁg'eﬁént? dscijfor,
Dr. Pofhpy \:cf:é.m‘é to 1eam‘ that ‘p.'e"o‘ble‘: turn to thé |
streets to self medicate and become addicted to
Hlegal drigs whon Hhey dantt obtain logitlmats
medical treatment for their pain. He saw the
destristion that addidtion cavses and Wanted to do
somethmg to hélp bredE 1“:h‘e‘ c;rcle 6f add1ct10n Liind
help thesé péoplé live their bist lives: 8o, in 2014, "

Dr. Poxﬁﬁy obtained his third board cert1ﬁcat1on, this
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Pompy’s practice. Search Warrant Aff. at
PagelD.2363-2373. Those visits occurred on various
dates from January 2, 2016 through May 17, 2016.
The reports indicated that during several
appointments, Howell was seen by Dr. Pompy face to
face for aronnd one minute or less, that Dr. Pompy
cenducted no physical examination of Howell, and
that he nevertheless issued or reneWed '.Iijrescriptions
for controlled substances including Norco, Lyrica,
and Zanaflex, |

Fourth the affidav1t recou.nted medlca.l rev1ews of

l
H \
A .

Howell’s patlent hlstory w1th Dr Pompy by Dr Carl

Chrlstensen 1dent1ﬁed as a consultant” for

SUPER o B T 2o 4

defendant Blue Cross Search Warrant Aff at

i .

PageID 237 3 75 Dr. Chrlstensen oplned that there
were several 1nd.1cat1ons that the 1ssuance of

prescriptions for pain medications were not

medically justified including (1) Howell’s exhibition
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of “drug seeking behavior” in his repeated requests
for refills and specific narcotics at the first visit and
every following visit, (2) Howell’s stated complaints
of “stiffness” and “soreness” in his back which did not
include any statements that he was suffering “pain,”
or any tangible indication of pain severity, (3) lack of
ahy méaningful discussion between Howell and Dr.
Poripy about arty medical Kistosy of Howall’s pais or
possible causes of his back problems, (4) the lack of
iy Bhsical Sxsndiniatior. parlarinsd by Dr. Pomssy
dinring visits when drugs were preseribed, 8 '
abnormal urine test results iiidicétiﬁé the preééhéé
of several Gontrolled substanées that Howell had nick
reporied having 4 presciption for, as well b the
absence !(J)f iﬁefabblitég fromthe drugsthat Dr :‘
Pompy had prescribed on prior occasions, and ®)
lack of any Hiébuséignt?bétvéeei; Howe]land Dr L
Pompy about Howell's 4dmissions to Dr. Pompy that

AT R o TR = RS S RHE Y TR e 1y Y
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he was consuming alcohol to excess to manage his
discomfort. Dr. Christensen opined that Dr. Pompy’s
conduct during each visit where medication was
prescribed violated the applicable standard of care
and that the prescriptions were being issued without
any legitimate medical purpose, based on the above

anomalies.

F_ifth; the affidavit reported Ian investigation of
another suspect, Joshua Canglalom, whmh occurred
Nt
in Apnl 2016. Search Warrant Aﬁ' at PageII) 2376~
76 Moore was mformed that Canglalom had contact
another MANTIS 1nvest1gator, Detectlve Sean
Street and had offered to se].l Street various
prescription drugs including Suboxone, Xanax,
Fentariyi, andMorphme Search ;Warrant Aff, at
Pag"eID.2'376. Street eVentutzﬂjcbnductéd a'
controiled buy w1th Canglalosi and obtalned uhitsj of
& prescription spray containing Fentanyl,

T
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After the transaction, Street identified himself as a
police officer and detained Cangialosi. He
subsequently entered Cangialosi’s residence with
consent and found two other occupants present
therein, Vanessa Cangialosi and Ricky Bryant.
Joshua and Vanessa consented to a search of the
residence ahd agreed to speak with Street after
receunng Miranda Warmnge e.hd Walvrr;g the1r rights
to counsel. Venesse told Stre'et that Bryant was her
father; and that he was prescnbed various ﬁe'.reetics,
most of whlch he éav’e to Vanessa’andj oshua to sell
for aﬁrofit Bryantalaoconsented to bellnter\i’lewed
and told Street that his phys1c1an Dr. Pompy, had
1ssued him recurrmg prescnptlons for 120 units per
refill of the Feﬂten};l spray Bryant kept 40 of the ot

units and pééfséd‘on ‘the other 80 units to be sold.
Moore further attested that 1nformat10n from the
Al . ! il | l:. Al 0 3 5 J

manufacturer of the Subsys brand Fentanyl spray
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Bryant was prescribed indicated that it was intended
exclusively for use by cancer patients with
established opioid tolerance suffering “breakthrough
pain,” such that their pain could not be controlled
even by the heaviest safe regimen of daily Morphine.
Furthermore, there were specific indications that the
pl;oduct Waé not to be used by any patients who were
not on a ddntiﬂﬁdﬁé da11y op101d rggimer;i‘,{ due to tﬁé :
risk of fétél:"éorhpljicati‘ons in noﬁ-opiOideé)lerant
patiehté. Bryant had toIdStreet that he didv"vn‘(«)"c have
cancer and was prescribed the §F;entéx'1y1' spray o
solely on his diagnosis of Chronic Obstructive =
Pulmonary Disease (COPD); which is'a lung
condition that causes breatliihg dlﬁﬁculty The =
manufacturer’s 11terature d1d Bot thdisate that *
Subsy's waé apﬁfdpﬁatéﬂz for treatment of COPD
Moore further stated that Di. Christensen had =~

3 g by 0 T UG e a1 '_.f..:,:‘!f““ o e
conducted a review of records relating to patients
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whom Dr. Pompy had prescribed the Subsys
Fentanyl spray for, and none indicated diagnostic
codes associated with cancer. Dr. Christensen opined
that “[t]he use of this potent opioid narcotic for
patients without cancer, with the risk of addiction,
overdose anld death, is outside the standard of

care.” Id. at PageID.2378.

Fma]ly, the afﬁdawt recounted survelllance by other

‘ .\‘ ‘,l

MANTIS 1nvest1gators on vanous dates durmg J uly‘%
and August 2016 documentmg several occasions on )
whlch Dr. Pompy was seen leavmg h1s medlcal
pract1ce w1th packages or bags, whlch Dr Pompy

transported to h1s home apparently to sequester the

contents in the res1dence

Dr. Pompy has not pleaded any spec1ﬁc facts ca].hng

into questlon the vera01ty of any parts of the above

o )., PR A sy

narrat1ve or the medlcal op1n1ons stated by Dr
i i ] .

Christensen about the absence of medmal
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justification for narcotics prescriptions that were
issued to Howell, Bryant, and other patients who had
been seen by Dr. Pompy. In his pleadings, Dr. Pompy
specifically takes issue only with those discrete
statements that his “prescribing volume” was
excessive for physicians in his area of practice and
that he had used inflated billing codes based on the
‘Hocnniented time spent with patients in certain
visits. See Search Wartan AFF. at PagelD.2383-84.
Tnis _inforn1atien based on eyewitness accennts by )
two persons whe v1s1ted Dr Pompy’s chmc and
received prescnptmns for powerful n‘arcot1c;pam _.
iellevers, sufﬁces to snggest la reason‘ab.le probab1].1ty
that Dr Pompy was engaged in a pattern of 1ssu.1ng
prescﬁptmns for contro].led substances w1thout a

3 i i i1 ":\},:1:. : ) w i
1eg1t1mate med.lcal purpose. The statements

concerning Pompy’s overall prescribing volume and

b11].1ng code abuses are at worst merely
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exaggerations about the significance of data
reviewed by investigators. But even if they were
outright falsehoods, “a court should set aside any
false statement, or include any omission, in order to
determine whether probable cause nonetheless
exists, and an alleged misstatement or exaggeration
of facts is insufficient to make a claim if other facts
support the [] probable cause

aetérrﬁiﬁatidﬁ.*’ Buchanan gft}i‘MetZ, 647EF': App’x 659,
664 (6th Cir. 2016) (citing Hill v. Melntyre, 884 F.2d

271,275 (6th Cir. 1089). "~ "

After disregarding those discrete portions of the

afﬁdav1t that the pla1nt1£fs specrﬁcally challenge as

0 Bt

mlsleading, the remainder of the ummpeached

narratlve amply supports a conclus1on that probable

cause was demonstrated to suspect Dr Pompy of

engagmg in the 1ssuance of illicit prescrlptlons for

controlled substances The plaintiffs do not challenge

I T oy
; “A|"
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the affidavit’s establishment of a nexus to the places
to be searched and assets to be seized, but the
affidavit also sufficiently establishes reasonable
grounds to believe that evidence of Dr. Pompy’s
illegal medical practices would be found at his clinic
and his horne, as well as in the records of financial

accounts associated with the practice.

Consrdermg the totahty of the narratlve in the

search warrant afﬁdav1t there was no deﬁc1ency in
the probable cause showmg, and the plalntlffs

A 1- R4 Bt il A, '] ,
therefore cannot proceed on thelr clalms of Fourth

Amendment v101at10ns (Count 4) The a]legedly

1mproper procurement of search warrants is the sole
b, .
TR S RIS thr

ba31e for the c1v11‘ conspiracy clernr fpleaded in Count
3, and Ithat claim consé"quently:faﬂs dus to the
correspOnoi'ng failure plau81b1y fa"makéi out any
claim of an underlying constitutional “;ioietion. “In

the absence of a viable underlying [constitutional]
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claim, [the plaintiff's] associated [l conspiracy claim
necessarily fails.” Spearman v. Williams, No. 22~
1309, 2023 WL 7000971, at *5 (6th Cir. July 17,
2023) (citing Stricker v. Township of Cambridge, 710
F.3d 350, 365 (6th Cir. 2013); Wiley v. Oberlin Police
Dep, 330 F. App’z 524, 530 (6th Cir. 2009) (holding
tflat a plaiﬁfiff cannot succeed on a conspiracy claim
whete Shsre was 16 iy i donstitbilasal
diolntion it thussd Ea:

C. Tortidus iﬁterféré;lce Cla1m

The plaintiffs allege that; defendants Blue Crosg and.
Moore interfered with a valid business expectancy by
causing Dr. Pompy’s practice to be terminated from,
several other provider networks as a result of the
issuance of the allegedly bogus search warrants.
That claim is implausible because, (1) as discussed
above, thel;e was nothing improper about the

issuance of the search virarrants in the first instance,
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and (2) in any event the documentation attached to
the complaints conclusively shows that the
termination of provider relationships was not caused
by the issuance or execution of any search warrants,
but instead by Dr. Pompy’s arrest on criminal

charges of controlled substances distribution.

Under Michigan law, thelelements of tortious
interference with a busihess relationship or
eXpeetancy are (1) the existence of a valid business
relationship or et{pectancy, (2) the defendant’s
knowledge of the relat10nsh1p or expectancy, (3) an
1ntent10na1 1nterference by the defendant mduclng or
ceﬁelng e‘brea‘eh o:‘t;}terrlnlnatloh of the relat1ensh1p
or expectancy, and (4) i'esulté.ht daniage Eto’ the
plaintiff. Cedroni Assh, Inc. v. Tomblinson, Harburn
Assocs., Architects & Planners Inc., 492]“Mich. 40, 45,
821 N.W.2d 1, 3 (2019) (citirig Dalley v. Dykema

Gossett, PLLC; 287 Mich. App. 296, 323, 788 N.W.2d
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679, 696 (2010)). For the first element, the plaintiff
must show that the expectancy was “a reasonable
likelihood or probability, not mere wishful

thinking.” Cedroni, 492 Mich. at 45, 821 N.W.2d at 3
(citing Trepel v. Pontiac Osteopathic Hosp., 135
Mich. App. 361, 377, 354 N.W.2d 341, 348 (1984))
(quotation marks omitted). The third element
requn'es a plaus1b1e allegatlon of an 1ntent10na1
domg of a per se wrongful act or the do1ng of a lawful
act with malice and urjustified in law for the
pui'pese of invedirig the COnfractuaI rigl‘ltis' or
business relationship of anothér” Formiall, Iac. v.
O’mif Nat. B.smlrrbf Pout1ac,166 Mich. Appj 7 72\1 |
779, 421 N.W. 2d 289 292 (1988) (quotatlon marks
and c1tat10ns om1tted) The “plamt].ff must |
demonstrate, with specl.ﬁmty, af.ﬁrmatlve acts by the
interferer which 'édi'foberete' t'he Selaveti biirpose of

the interference.” Id, at 292-93.

LA L
\ | g
fd
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The pleadings here do not plausibly describe the
doing of any “per se wrongful act” or the commission
of any “lawful act with malicious intent,” because
nothing more is alleged than that the defendants
procured and executed search warrants that were
supported by probable cause. Moreover, Dr. Pompy
cehspicuously does not challenge the basis of
pfObable eaiiie}e'llfor‘ hig arrest ‘on feder‘a'.féher:ges of
d.rug and health care fraud offehees. Nor c‘oul'dhe'v"‘
edvance arisr such challenge atth1s peint, }'s'ince he
was charged in an indictment issued by a grand ury
on a finding ef 'iii‘()babie‘éeﬁse See Parnell V | City of
Detroit, Mchgan 786 F. Appx 43, 47 (6th Cir. 2019)
(“[A] bindover determination afl:er a pre]nmnary
hearmg, or a grand jury 1nd10tment proves the .:
ex1stence of probable cause lu.fﬁc1ent to call for tnal

AR S N T Ay ST Rt e VR T M
on the char"ge and forecloses a claim for malicious
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prosecution.”) (citing King v. Harwood, 852 F.3d 568,

587-88 (6th Cir. 2017)).

The specimens of termination letters that were
attached to the complaint disclose that Dr. Pompy’s
medical practice was suspended from other provider
networks due to his “arrest”; no mention is made of
any “search”— either proper or improper — which i is
the entlre fochs of the 1nstant 11t1éat1en See Letter‘ “
dated Oct. 3, 2016 (“This summary suspension is
pursuant to Pol1cy No CR18, Summary Suspens1on
HAP may 1mt1ate an 1mmed.1ate summary |
susperiéion against a 'H.AP"Jp.roir.idef when the Cheiht
of the Credéntialing Committée is madé aware that
the Idi‘ovidet hasbeen arrested or charged witha =
felony and HAP heﬂliievee“'thdt the provider's ciiarges
endanger[] the public health, safety or we].fare of our

members”) (emphams added)

[T C
S PR .
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It also is axiomatic that causation is an inherent
element of every claim of intentional tort, including
interference with a business expectancy. Vista Prop.
Grp., LLC v. Schulte, No. 347471, 2020 WL 5581751,
at *7 (Mich. Ct. App. Sept. 17, 2020) (“[Tlhe third
element of tortious interference . . . requires [al
showing ol' .causation.”). The pleadings in this case
afﬁrmati\r‘ely‘ den:ldxléti*ate that the alleged harm of

other providers’ terminations of their relationships
with the plaintiffe’ medical practice was not caused
by any allegedly wrongful conduct described in any '

version of the complainits,

The pla1nt1ffs have fa11ed to plead plaus1bly any

it

underlymg tort1ous act and also have fa1led

2% S l“.' o T Ty

adequately to plead facts to estabhsh causat1on to

T e [N

support the cla.lms for tortious 1nterference (Count_

6).
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For these reasons, Count 3, Count 4, and Count 6 of
the second amended and proposed third amended
complaints do not state claims upon which relief can
be granted. Moore’s motion to dismiss will be
granted, and the motion to amend to add Dr. Pompy
1nd1v1dual1y as a plaintiff in the Racketeering claims
in Counts 1 and 2 against Blue Cross and Moore and
join Blué Cross 2 & defndaiit s Cousits § and 4 will

be denied.

IV Plamt].ffs Mot1on for Rehef from Order

o (... n

D1sm1ss1ng Clalms Agalnst Blue Cross and for Leave

to F11e a Th].rd Amended Complamt

The Court previously ordered that all the claims . .
against defendant Blue Cross in Dr. Pompy’s pro
se first amended complaint be dismissed. See ECF

No 105 dlscussed at PageID 1612 16 He moves for
rehef from that order under Federal Rule of ClVll x

b

Procedure 60(b) although he now concedes that the
I
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motion should be decided under Rule 54(b), since the
previous order was interlocutory. Rule 15(a) applies
to the motion to amend the second amended

complaint.

“District courts have authority both under common
law and Rule 54(b) to reconsider interlocutory orders
and to reopen any part of a case before entry of ﬁnal
Jedgment Rodz:lguez V Tem;es.s'ee Laborers Hea]t]z
and Welfare Fund, 89 F. App’x 949, 959 (6th Cir.
2004) (citations omitted). A party seeking that relief
generaﬂy must show “(1) an intervening change of
controlling law; (2) new evidence available; or (3) a
need to corréct a clear érror or prevent manifost
injustice.” Zbid. Motions to amend befors trial ate
governed by Rule 15(a). Rule ‘;1‘5(5)"(2) Erefihii'”eéf a -
party s'eek:iﬁgﬁfe inead it.é’{‘pieadirigsl at this stage of
the proceedings to obtain leave of court. Although

Rule 15(a)(2) says that “[t]he court should freely give
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leave [to amend] when justice so requires,” leave may
be denied for several reasons, including the futility of
the proposed new claim. Foman v. Davis, 371 U.S.
178, 182 (1962); Duggins v. Steak 'N Shake, Inc., 195
F.3d 828, 834 (6th Cir. 1999); Fisher v. Roberts, 125

F.3d 974, 977 (6th Cir. 1997).

For all of the reasons discussed at length above in

connect1on with the mot1ons to d1sm1ss by defendants

b
TR [

B1shop and Moore, the pla1nt1ffs have falled

plaus:'bly to plead any v1ab1e clalms agalnst any of

LIPS gt 1 g _'.if.k

the defendants named in th1$ su1t e1ther presently or

formerlg. |
The one claim that was not discussed is the breach of
contract claim in Count 5. The Court prev10usly held
that 1t lacked ]ur1sd1ct10n over that c1a1m and
d1sm1ssed 1t w1thout preJud.lce ECF l\Io 105

PageID 1617-18. Blue Cross argued at the time that

A j
that the amended complamt d1d not state a val1d
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breach of contract claim. But to reach that
conclusion, the Court must have the authority to
address the merits. Because the contract claim was a
purely state-law claim between non-diverse parties,
and it was not “related” within the meaning of
section 1367(a) to a pleaded claim over which this
Court has subject matter jurisdiction, the Court
dismissed that claim without prejudice. The
plaintiﬂ's have not pfééenfea any éo'od é;'éun'ds‘ either
to revisit that ruling or to pei'mit the resurrection of
the prewouslgr d1§mlsse[dcla1m1nthe current posture
of fhe case, where no v1ab1e cla1ms for any bﬂtiér
causes of action femain,

The pl;iintiﬁ's’ motion for re]ief from the prior

dismissal ;orders and for leave to further amend the

AR

pleadings will be denied.

V. Defendant Blue Cross’s Motion to Strike.
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Defendant Blue Cross argues that all of the claims in
the second amended complaint pleaded against it
should be stricken under Federal Rule of Civil
Procedure 12(f) because (1) the Court dismissed all of
the claims against Blue Cross with prejudice more
than three years before the second amended
coyxvnry)liaint Qas filed, (2) when the magistrate judge
held a conference ‘with counsel for the remeinihg o
parties and subsequently granted leave to file a
hetorid amended complaint, he ev1dent1y mtended to
eilow Dr. Pompy to bolster the pleadmgs agamst the
eUrviving .defehdﬁnte, not to resurrect clalms which
had been dismiésed years prior, "a“x'id 3) Blue Cross
did not consent to theﬁ.hng of t':he Secbﬁa emended

complaint, nor was leave granted by the Court to file
a second amended complaint adding previously

dismissed claims.
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The plaintiffs respond that (1) nothing in the Court’s
April 2023 order “limited” or “conditioned” the scope
of an amended pleading in any way, and the
plaintiffs assumed therefore that they were free to
replead any claims against any party that were not
previously dismissed with prejudice, (2) the
replsaded claims for RICO and civil conspiracy are
bbb solaly B IPMA] which Tiad ite clatias™ ™™
dismiS'Sé&j!Wifiibli; prej udlce dﬁé to ifs' ihsiliiiﬁy to
rstain counsel, unlike Dr. Pshlps?’s:cléiiﬁs, which
were dismissed with pre]udlce, and (3) counsel’s
representatmnthathe was workmg on w1nnow1ng
claims againSt“‘remsihing defenaahts” did not “rule

Sl i Posalbiiity tikt hio Al was Sonatdustag
phsivecting Usims againet provisusly Haiilised
Suiriion. Thi platatitts Further aeae that Sane of the
cases cited by the defetiidaﬁt:involﬁed pro se parties,

and the Court should not punish Dr. Pompy for his
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inability to previously retain counsel, which was
caused by the defendants’ allegedly wrongful seizure
of his assets. The plaintiffs also contend that Rule
15(a) does not preclude renaming previously
dismissed parties where leave to amend properly is
granted, because the order of partial dismissal was
not a “ﬁnal.order” under Rule 54, and therefore Blue

Cross remained a party to the case after that order
was entered. S

o nalt )

|1 i { L |

All of the pomts argued in the pla1nt1ffs oppos1t10n

to th1s motlon are subsumed by the arguments in

It
. L Y RIRE N "i;%‘f : : ‘."‘-

support of their comblned mot1on for rehef from the

iy ! -
.1,.,Hi,-'\'L*r1.“ A’?!‘l‘m

order d1sm1ss1ng cla1ms agalnst Blue Cross and for

‘\A‘ "' ; = WL i

leave to file a th1rd amended complalnt reJo1mng

BCBSM as a defendant and reassertmg a]l of the

previously dismissed claims. The Court addressed
the merits of the claims in the proposed third

amended complaint when it denied that motion,
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above. The claims against defendant Blue Cross do
not survive. No further relief can be granted to this
defendant by striking any pleadings. Therefore, this

motion will be denied as moot.
V1. Conclusion

After reviewing the allegations in the second
amended complaint and the proposed third amended
complaint, the Court must conclude that the
plaintiffs have not pleaded, and will not be able to - .
plead, facts in support.of the theories of recovery that

they outljne in those pleadings.

Accordingly, it is ORDERED that the plaintiffs’
motion for relief from order dismissing claims
against Blue Cross and for leave to file a third

L

améhded complaint (ECF No. 171) _is DENIED.



Appendix 158

It is further ORDERED that the motions to dismiss
by defendants Bishop and Moore (ECF No. 156, 157)

are GRANTED.

It is further ORDERED that defendant Blue Cross
Blue Shield’s motion to strike (ECF No. 155)

is DENIED as moot.

It is fizrther ORDERED that all claims in the second
amended complaint are DISMISSED WITH - |
PREJUDICE, except the claim for breach of contract
(Count 5), which is DISMISSED WITHOUT

PREJUDICE.

s/David M. Lawson.
DAVID M. LAWSON

United States District J udge

Date: February 28, 2024
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APPENDIX D

STATE OF MICHIGAN WAYNE COUNTY
CIRCUIT COURT LESLY POMPY, and
INTERVENTIONAL PAIN MANAGEMENT
ASSOCIATES, P.C., Plaintiffs, v. Case No. 24 HON.
------- CB JURY DEMAND BLUE CROSS BLUE
SHIELD OF MICHIGAN Defendant. BUTZEL
George B Donmnl (P66793) Joseph E. Richotte
@70902 | Steveh R Eatherl'y‘ &PSIISO); 'Cellimbia
Center 201 W B1g Beaver Rd #1200 Troy, MI 48084
(248) 258- 1616 donmm@butzel S
nchotte@butzel com eatherly@butzel com Counse]for
P1a1nt1ffs 1 COMPLAINT BUSINESS COU'RT
ELIGIBLE MCL 600.8031()Q()-i) MCL

600. 8031(2)(d) Notice of et A, & S5 action
between these partles arlsmg out of the transactlons

OF Occurrences a]l'eged in this COmplaint LN
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previously filed in the United States District Court
for the Eastern District of Michigan, where it was
styled Pompy v Monroe Bank & Trust, et al., given
case number 2:19-cv-10334, and assigned to U.S.
District Judge David M. Lawson ("Pompy I"). The
contract claim asserted in this complaint was
dismissed v¥7ithout prejudice for want of subject-
matter jurisdiction. Id., at R.182, PageID.3144.
Federal law authorizes the claim to be refiled in this
Court for adjudication on the merits. 28 USC 1367(
d). - 1 Case 2:19-cv-10334-DML-APP ECF No. 188-2,
PagelD.3187 Filed 07/31/24 Page 3 of 11 PARTIES 2.
Plaintiff Lesly Pbmpj:r&i:sj a é:ifizén of the United
States of American and a citizen of the State of
M1ch1gan Hels domlclled at 533 North ‘Monsos
Street in Monroe, Michigan 48162. He is the sole
shareholder of Plaintiffinterventional Painn -~

I\"/Ianééé‘inéﬁt Assoc‘iatésd,}P:.C';[ 3. Plaintiff

I ala 2825 ¥ il 4
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Interventional Pain Management Associates, P.C.
("IPMA"), is a professional corporation organized
under the laws of the State of Michigan with a
registered office at 400 Galleria Officenter, Suite
500, in Southfield, Michigan 48034. IPMA is a
business enterprise under the Business Court Act.
MCL 600.8031(b). 4. Defendant Blue Cross Blue
Shield of Miéhigan ("lﬁCBSM") is a' mutual ins'ure'nce
company organized under the laws of the State of
M1ch1‘ gan with' heedquartei'g jaf ?éOOi Eééﬁ‘ (i;afasrette
Boulevard in Detro:.t Mlch1gan 48226 BCBSM isa

o

busmess enterprlse under the Busmess Court Act.
MOL 600.8031(b). JURISDICTION AND VENUE 5.
The circuit court has original subject matter
]unsd1ct1on over th.1s dlspute because the amount in
controversy Loz $25‘,00‘0._‘ Const (i963), art. 6, §
13; MCL 600601(1)(3.),MCL 600605Accord MCL

600.8301(1). 6. The Court has territorial jurisdiction
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over Wayne County, MCL 600.504, and Wayne
County is the proper venue for this action because
BCBSM has a place of business and conducts
business in the City of Detroit, a municipal
corporation located within Wayne County. MCL
600.1621(a). 7. This action is eligible for assignment
to the business court docket because it: (a) involves a
business diséute‘betv‘{}ééﬁ busmess enterpri’ses and
the sole natural party is a lcu'rren!t shareholder of one
of the busmess enterprlses, MCL 600 8031(1)(0), and
(b) arises out ofa contr[actual agreement "MCL
]urlsdlctlon o(rer Dr Pompy 'b’y" consent MCL 600."
7 01(3) general personal jurisdiction over IPMA

because 1t was mcorporated under the laws 2 Case

kb

219-cv-10334 DML-APP ECF No. 1882, ~
PagelD.3188 Filed 07/31/24 Page 4 of 11 of this state

and by consent, MCL 600. 711(1)-(2), and general
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personal jurisdiction over BCBSM because it was
incorporated under the laws of this state and because
it carries on a continuous and systematic part of its
general business within this state. MCL 600. 711 (1
), (3). BACKGROUND 9. Dr. Pompy's Credentials
and Career. Dr. Pompy lawfully immigrated to the
United States with his family when he was 12 years
old. The Pompys settled in Beld.f:'ord:fStuyvesier‘it, a
small community in Brooklyn,il.‘\few York Afte!r |
watching many ﬁeighborhaed kids fall 1ntodrugsand
gang v101ence, Dr. Pompy dicided to pursue a
vocation in medicine. 10, In 1986, after graduating
from Clty ‘bo-llege ofNeWYork, Dr. Pompy riecelved a
eehelarshii) to med.lcal schoei' and was admitted to an
accelerated ‘pr‘(:‘)éraﬁl", graduatmg from New York
Medlcal School. 11 After med1cral SCﬂeof; Dr Pompy
pursued anesthesia training as a resident at SUNY

Brooklyn. He then iperforn;el(‘l'.’:a fWOﬁééi‘ fellowship
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in cardiac anesthesia at the prestigious Cleveland
Clinic. Dr. Pompy thereafter passed his anesthesia
boards and became a board-certified anesthesiologist
by the American Board of Anesthesiology. 12. In
1991, Dr. Pompy moved to Monroe, Michigan, to
become the chief of anesthesia at Mercy Memorial
Hospital. 13. By the mid-1990s, Dr. Pompy had been
encountering TS ;ihﬁenfé suffering from long term,
chromc pa.ln He ‘wanted to help fhdse pa'ltiehts‘ better
inanage theii‘ paih, so he obtaine(i Iﬁs second board
cert1ﬁcat10n, this t1me‘1n paln management, frem the
American Board of Pain Medicine in 1996. 14. By
3002, Dr. Potipy desided t step down as chicfof
anesthesiology at Merey Memarial Houpithl t6 open”
IPMA. He bdliéht an office suite in the hospital's
office bu11d1ng 'r'a'n‘& opened: hlsaoorsto the nl1e<‘iical‘l‘y:'
underéerved‘peof)le of MOhroe COuhty. 15. Dr. Po‘iﬂpy

built a referral-only specialty practice at IPMA,
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time in addiction medicine the American Society of
Addiction Medicine. 17. BCBSM Contract. Dr. Pompy
and BCBSM were parties to the "Blue Cross and
Blue Shield of Michigan Trust Network Practitioner
Affiliation Agreement" (revised Jan. 2012), which
constitutes a contract between Dr. Pompy and
BCBSM (the "Contract"). PX 1, Contract, Cff7.10.
IPMA was ":at least an Lintended:tﬁird-parts?
beneﬁc1ary to'the Contract. See id:., at Cff34f
(fequiﬁng Dr Pompytonot:fyBCBSM of any changes
to his busmess-l e., IPMA) MCL 600. 1405 The
Contract deslgnates Dr Pompy ae "an approved non-
exclusive preferred prov1der of covered services to
members of BCBSM. d,, at Cff2.1. Under the
Contract Dr. Pompy had a contractual r1ght to
provide covered services to BCBSM mernbers. Id., at
Cff34d 180n ‘informat::ron andl;ehef, iPMAzand B

BCBSM were also parties to a separate agreement
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under which IPMA had a right to receive payments
from BCBSM due for services rendered by Dr. Pompy
under the Contract. Plaintiffs are unable to locate a
copy of the agreement but offer a "Provider
Electronic Funds Transfer" printout from BCBSM,
which was produced by the United States in the
criminal case against Dr. Pompy. PX 2, BCBSM
Prowder Electromc Funds Transfer Plaintiffs
believe BCBSM has a copy of the separate agreelnent
in its records. 19. BCBSM had a contractual duty to
pay, and Plaintiffs had a contractual mght to be paid,
for covered services that Dr Pompy rendered to :
BCBSM members under the Contract. 20. The

Contract contemplates that d1sputes may arise
between BCBSM and Plarntxﬂ's over the vahd.lty ofa
cla_lm for payment for coxlrered services and prov1des a
comprehensive claims - 4 Case 2:19-cv-10334-DML:-

APP ECF No. 188-2, PagelD.3190 Filed 07/31/24

e
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Page 6 of 11 dispute and appeals process. BCBSM
had a right to audit claims for payment. Plaintiffs
had a right to appeal adverse claim and audit
determinations through BCBSM's internal process,
with a right to further appeal to an independent
review panel for a binding determination as to the

validity of a disputed claim. Id. At
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APPENDIX E: MOTION TO RECALL MANDATE

Case No. 24-1249

IN THE UNITED STATES COURT OF APPEALS
FOR THE SIXTH CIRCUIT LESLY POMPY, M.D.,
Plaintiff-Appellant, v. FIRST MERCHANTS BANK,
et al,, Defendants-Appellees. Case No. 24-1249
MOTION TO RECALL MANDATE Pursuant to
Federal Rule of Appellate Procedure 41(d) P1a1nt1£f
Appellant Lesly Pompy respectfully moves this Court
to recall 1ts mandate 1ssued of J uly 9, 2025 The |
recall is proper on the grounds that "the Court’
dec1s1on rests on a clear factual mlsapprehensmn :
under FRAP 40(a)(2)." The record clearly shows
niisused of federal funds, yet ithef éourt erroneously
failed to see the misuse of federal funds. The Court
clearly mlsunderstood a dlsposltwe issue.
Additiona]iy; the denial of reheariné (Doc. 26-1)

ignored Petitioner’s pro arguments on the use of
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misuse of federal funds. Such denial violates
Erickson v. Pardus, 551 U.S. 89 (2007)” and
demonstrates manifest injustice. QUESTIONS
PRESENTED 1. Whether recipients of federal funds
(including Medicare, Medicaid, Equitable Sharing
Program, and Bureau of Justice Assistance grants)
may evade liability for civil rights violations
committéd ‘uﬁdef colOf of 1a‘v£;, wheré such violations
fender their receipt of funds impermmissible under: 2
0 42 USC§ 1983 V(ébﬂsftitufi‘t:jﬁalli deprivé{ti;)né); 018
U.S.C. § 242 (criminal civil rights violations); o 28
O.FR. Part 42 (DOJ nondiscrimination regulatioris)
snd o Executive Order 14119 (prohibiting regulatory
Weépdﬁiz’f;tidﬁ):‘ 2Whether fh'(; Sixth; Circuit erred in
dismissing RICO claims against a private
corporation (Blue Cross Blue Shield of Michigan) and
State‘actbrs iwhd ébﬁspiréd to misuse federal

forfeiture funds and healthcare prdgrarh phymentés to



Appendix 171

target Petitioner, in violation of: 0 31 U.S.C. § 5316
(Equitable Sharing Act compliance); o 42 U.S.C. §
1320a-7b (Medicare/Medicaid anti-kickback rules);
and o 34 U.S.C. § 10151 (Bureau of Justice
Assistance grant conditions). II. FEDERAL
FUNDING VIOLATIONS NULLIFY IMMUNITY
AND WARRANT REVERSAL OF MANDATE A.
BCBSM and Lt. Moore’s Conduct V1olated Federal
Fund.mg Cond1t1ons 1. Medicare/Medicaid Fraud (42
U.S.C. § 1320a-7h) o B”éBSM's"*fabricaéian’af billing
wolatmns to ]ust1fy seizures violated: = Antl'
I{ickbaCk Statute: Paymerit"e to Mob’fé*s task force for
referrals (Doc 9 pp. 4, 15). 3 False Cla1ms Act:
Submission of fraudulent warrants to seize aesets
féimburééd bijedieare (31lJSC§ 3729). 0
Precedent: Universal Healfh Servs. v. U.Si.lex' rel.l -
Escobar, 570 U.S. 176 (2016) (material falsity voids

payments). 2. Equitable Sharing Act Violations (31
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U.S.C. § 5316) 0 Moore and BCBSM diverted
forfeiture proceed to punish Pompy, violating DOJ’s
"clean hands" policy (28 C.F.R. § 9.5). The court
relied on the search warrant affidavit but ignored
evidence that it contained knowingly false
statements (e.g., Howell’s fabricated identity.) o
Evidence: Postraid fund transfers to MANTIS (Doc.
9, p 15) andBCBSM’s "proﬁf-shafiﬁg" under Health
Endowment Act (Doc. 9, p. 17). 3. Bureau of Justice
Assistance (BJA) Grant Abuse (34 U.S.C. § 10151) o
MANTIS used BJA Grant No. 2011PMBXK00§
(Operation Gateway) tofund ra1ds féi‘éeting Pompy,
violating: » Civil Rights Act of 1064 (Titls VD) ~
D1scr1m1natory enforcement (42 USC § 2000d) .
DOJ Guidélines: Prohibiting use of funds for
unconstitutional searches (28 C.F.R. § 42.107). B.
The Sixth Circuit Ignored the Jurisdictional

Implications of Funding Viclations 1. 42 U.S.C. §
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1983 Supersedes Qualified Immunity 4 State actors
who accept federal funds waive immunity for civil
rights violations. See Pennhurst State Sch. & Hosp.
v. Halderman, 451 U.S. 1, 28 (1981). Here: Moore’s
task force received Equitable Sharing funds,
subjecting him to § 1983 liability for Fourth
Amendment violations. 2. RICO’s Nexus to Federal
Programs 0 BCBSM’s Medlcare/Medlcald fraud and
Moore’s forfeiture abuses constitute predicate acté
under RICO (18 USC§1961(1)(B))0 Precedent:’
Br{d'g'e v. Phoenix Bénd & I'nd;ta'l:iri.'Zr ‘Co.,; 553 tT.SLI 639
(8008) (Erandulent vse of foderal programs satisfies
RICO). 3. Whether the ’pz‘ih'elj’s‘ refusal to permit
amendment of pleadings—despite evidence of
pratidulent concealmeat by Blag Cross and
continuous !tdrfs (e.’g.; rebﬁtéffbnal harm from licénse
sﬁspénéioﬁj—ﬁolafég tlrus Court’s ﬁi"eée&éht 6n :

equitable tolling (Irwin v. VA, 498 U.S. 89 (1990))
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and conflicts with circuits allowing amendments to
cure defects in pro se filings (Erickson v. Pardus, 551
U.S. 89 (2007)).** *(Reply Brief at 19-21; Rehearing
Denial, Doc. 26-1.)* C. Executive Order 14119
Reinforces Funding-Based Liability * § 4(d):
Criminal enforcement of unpublished regulatory
effenses (e.g., BCBSM’s secret billing rules) is
strongly d1scouraged" 1f funded by federal prog'rams
. Preamble Condemns “weaponlzatlon" of federa]ly
subsidized enforcement. 5 IIL. CONCUSION The
Court completely faﬂed”to‘feviéw,"én;} of the impact
of misuse of federal funding on : 1) quallﬁed
1mmun1ty, and 2) the RICO clalms agalnst a pnvate
corporatlon (Blue Cross Blue Shield of M1ch.1gan)
and state actors ‘who consplred to misuse federal
forfeiture funds and healthcare ﬁ‘rbgram ‘pe'yinente ‘to
target‘ Appellant RELIEF REQUESTED 1 Declare

that BCBSM and Moore’s conduct violated federal
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funding conditions, voiding their immunity. 2.
Reverse dismissal of RICO claims predicated on
Medicare/Medicaid and Equitable Sharing Act
violations. 3. Remand for discovery on: o BCBSM’s
Medicare fraud (42 U.S.C. § 1320a-7b); o MANTIS’s
misuse of BJA grants (34 U.S.C. § 10151).
Respectfully submitted, /s/ Lesly Pompy Lesly Pompy
M.D. 533 N. Monroe St. Monroe, MI 48162 734-819-

0634 -pOﬁli)&pain@éiﬁail\.cbn‘l:j R
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APPENDIX F: Executive Order 14294 of May 9,
2025. Fighting Overcriminalization in Federal

Regulations

Executive Order 14294 of May 9, 2025
Fiéhting Overcriminalization in Federal Regulations

By the authonty vested in me as Pres1dent by the

Constltutlon and the laws of the Un1ted States of

Americe, l.it is hereby ordered:

Section 1 . Purpose. The United States is drastically
overregulated. The Code of Federal Regulations
containg over 48,000 sections, stretching over
175,000 pa:ges—far more than any citizen can
possibly read, let alone fully understand. Worse,
many carry potential criminai penalties for
violations. The; situation hes'become so dire that no

onie—likely including those charged with enforcing’
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our criminal laws at the Department of Justice—
knows how many separate criminal offenses are
contained in the Code of Federal Regulations, with at
least one source estimating hundreds of thousands of
such crimes. Many of these regulatory crimes are
“strict liability” offenses, meaning that citizens need
not have a guilty mental state to be convicted of a

crime.

This status quo is absurd and unjust. It allows the
executive branch to wrlte \thsula.w, in additiqn to
executing it. TI;at sitﬁéi:i;)n can 1end ifself to abuse
and weaponizatiqn by prov1d1ng Government officials
tools td targeflunﬁttiﬂé in(ii;iduals. It pri?ilegés |
large corpoi'ations, which can afford to hire expensive
legal teams to navigate complex regulatory schemes
and fence out new market entrants, over average

Americans.
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The purpose of this order is to ease the regulatory
burden on everyday Americans and ensure no
American is transformed into a criminal for violating

a regulation they have no reason to know exists.

Sec. 2 . Policy. 1t is the policy of the United States

that:

(a) Criminal enforcement of criminal regulatory

offenses is disfavored.

(b) Prosecution of criminal regulatory offenses is
most appropriate for persons-who know or can be
presumed to know what is prohibited or required by
the regulation and willingly choose not to comply,
thereby causing or risking substantial public harm.
Prosecutions of criminal regulatory offenses should
focus on matters where a putative defendant is

alleged to have known his conduct was unlawful.
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(0) Strict liability offenses are “generally disfavored.”
United States v. United States Gypsum, Co., 438
U.S. 422, 438 (1978). Where enforcement is
appropriate, agencies should consider civil rather
than criminal enforcement of strict liability
regulatory offenses or, if appropriate and consistent
with due process and the right to jury trial, see
Jarkesyv. Securities and Exchange Commission, 603
U.S. 109 (2024), administrative enforcement.

(d) Agencies promulgating regulations potentially
sﬁbject to criminal enforcemeﬁt should explicitly
describe the conduct subject to criminal enforcement,
the authorizing statutes, and the mens rea standard
épplicab‘le to fhose o’fl'f;enéeé‘.‘ S |

Sec. 3 . Definitions. For purposes of this order:

(a) “Agency” has the meaning given to “Executive

agency” in section 105 of title 5, United States Code;
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(b) “Criminal regulatory offense” means a Federal
regulation that is enforceable by a criminal penalty;

and

(c) “Mens rea” means the state of mind that by law
must be proven to convict a particular defendant of a

particula;i crime.

Sec. 4 . Report on Criminal Regulatory Offenses. (a)
Within 365 days of the date of this order, the head of
each agency, in consultation with the Attorney
General, shall provide to the Director of the Office of

Management and Budget (OMB) a report containing:

(1) a list of all criminal regulatory offenses
enforceable by the agency or the Department of

Justice; and

(ii) for each criminal regulatory offense identified in
subsection (a)(i) of this section, the range of potential

criminal penalties for a violation and the applicable



